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PREFACE

In the second half of 1845 the focus of Polk’s correspondence shifted
from issues relating to the formation of his administration and distri-
bution of party patronage to those issues that would give shape and
consequence to his presidency: the admission of Texas, preparation for
its defense, restoration of diplomatic relations with Mexico, and ter-
mination of joint occupancy of the Oregon Country. For the most part
the incoming letters tended to urge rather more militancy on the Texas
and Oregon questions than Polk would adopt, and notions of national
destiny registered a singular theme of bouyant confidence in taking on
both Mexico and Great Britain if military action should be required.
President Polk and Secretary of State James Buchanan succeeded in
both using and controlling the surge of nationalism that heightened
expectations for expansion westward.

Polk and Buchanan agreed on the importance of reestablishing
diplomatic relations with Mexico, but the President chose to take a per-
sonal hand in managing the selection and instruction of John Slidell,
whose departure for Vera Cruz would not be made public until he
had arrived in Mexico. Polk wanted to give the fledgling Mexican ad-
ministration of José Joaquin Herrera a chance to compose Mexico’s
differences with Washington free of contrary pressures from Great
Britain and France; and he fully understood the price that Herrera
might pay for a peaceful settlement of the Texas question. If Mexico
required more than $6 million for the purchase of her two most north-
ern provinces, as provided in his instructions, Slidell might agree to
any reasonable additional sum.

X
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The President hoped for a prompt and easy purchase of New Mexico
and Upper California. Mexico might count the sale an indirect com-
pensation for her loss of Texas; but Polk would not compromise the
legitimacy of Texas’ revolution or its right of self-determination by ne-
gotiating Texas “reparations” as required by Mexico for holding talks
leading to the resumption of diplomatic relations. Nor would Polk ac-
cede to Mexico’s dictation of who might be included in the diplomatic
mission. He ignored the several Mexican stipulations and as a sign
of good will ordered the United States naval squadron to retire from
its station off the approaches to Vera Cruz. Slidell’s mission probably
never had much chance of success, for without control of its military
the Herrera administration could neither give up its claim to Texas
nor overcome British opposition to the sale of New Mexico and Upper
California. Within but a few days of Slidell’s arrival in the Mexican
capital, Mariano Paredes y Arillaga organized a military coup, put
the Herrera government to flight, and on January 2, 1846, declared
himself interim president of Mexico. The annexation of Texas by the
United States precipitated yet another suspension of constitutional
government in Mexico, but the Texas question did not create Mexico’s
long-held tradition of authoritarian rule by its military.

The Texas and Oregon questions pressed hard upon the new pres-
ident, for inherent in both issues loomed the possibility of military
conflict. With the exception of a brief scare in late August of 1845,
Polk remained confident that his sending ground forces to the village
of Corpus Christi on the Nueces and building up the naval squadron
on the Texas coast would signal with clarity his intention to defend the
annexation arrangements and thus prevent Mexico from sending an
army into her former province.

Polk assured his correspondents that if Mexican forces stayed on the
west bank of the Rio Grande, there would be no war; and the President
just as emphatically expressed his belief that Mexico would do so.

Polk left on the table his predecessor’s initiative to divide the Oregon
Country at the 49th parallel with all of Vancouver Island going to the
British. The summary rejection of that offer by the British minister
to Washington, Richard Packenham, so angered Polk that on August
30th he formally withdrew all prior offers to settle the dispute. The
British foreign secretary, Lord Aberdeen, disavowed Packenham’s ac-
tion and assured the U.S. minister to Britain, Louis McLane, that no
ultimatum had been sanctioned by his government. Buchanan tried in
vain to soften Polk’s decision not to initiate further negotiations, but
he had determined to give the required one-year notice prior to abro-
gating the treaty of joint occupancy. Accordingly, in his First Annual
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Message to Congress Polk asked for a joint resolution terminating the
Oregon agreements with Great Britain. Polk received high praise for
his Message and its hard line on Texas and Oregon.

Although urged by some of his close confidants to form a “Polk party”
and in so doing force discordant elements to back his measures or leave
the Democracy, Polk chose to maintain the larger tent and try to man-
age the factional divisions to his advantage. Turning to one of his
more difficult tasks, he sought to improve relations with the radical
wing of the New York Democracy, now headed by the new governor,
Silas Wright, Jr. He and Wright enjoyed a good personal relationship
going back to their days together in Congress, and Polk had first turned
to Wright as his choice for his vice-presidential running mate. Wright
had declined that honor in deference to his loyalty to Martin Van Buren
and his late election to the New York governorship. Their exchange of
confidences on the nature of the splits in New York brought the two
in closer alignment, particularly in their strong opposition to creating
state debts and granting limited liability to corporations.

Solicitations for public office and patronage filled Polk’s day, so much
so that he had almost no time for corresponding with his political
friends. For every post that he filled he disappointed numerous other
applicants, and in two notable instances he alienated members of his
own family. He refused to accede to his Uncle William W. Polk’s solici-
tations and for that supposed slight had to repay a rather substantial
personal loan well in advance of its due date. Even closer to home, he
declined to appoint the business partner of a favorite nephew, Samuel
P. Walker, to a consular post; and Samuel’s father James vented such
anger as may seldom have been written to a sitting president. Polk had
received criticism for appointing his younger brother, William, to the
post of minister to Naples; and for that reason the President felt con-
strained to hold family appointments to a minimum. William wrote
from Naples about political, diplomatic, and financial matters; and
Polk looked forward to his brother’s negotiating a satisfactory commer-
cial treaty and returning home with such honors as would justify his
“family” appointment.

In Tennessee the election of Aaron V. Brown to the governorship
and a thin Democratic majority in both houses of the Assembly gave
Polk a sense of vindication for his having lost his home state in the
1844 presidential contest. Polk’s firing of William B. Lewis as second
auditor of the Treasury and the disappearance of Andrew Jackson’s
last letter, which was addressed to Polk, played a unique part in
the gubernatorial election in Tennessee and demonstrated again the
power of the General’s legacy in all things political. Numerous letters
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filled the mails from Nashville and brought detailed information about
the split in Democratic ranks over the United States senatorial elec-
tion by the legislature. Democratic members felt deeply betrayed by
Harvey M. Watterson’s solicitation of Whig support and his subsequent
election over the near unanimous caucus choice, A. O. P. Nicholson.
Polk vigorously denied Watterson’s accusation that he had handpicked
Nicholson, but he gave no encouragement to suggestions that he treat
the new senator as a traitor to the Democracy. Polk had not managed
the election in Tennessee or elsewhere, for he did not see himself as the
leader of a new or even revitalized political movement. He had agreed
to seek and serve but a single term, and he would devote himself to the
requirements of that service and little else.

This Volume

Always concerned that the reader’s primary focus fall on the text
of the document, the editors have limited their annotations to textual
criticism and identifications. Persons, subjects, and oblique references
have been noted on the occasion of their first mention in this volume;
for the full name of persons mentioned subsequently in the text only
by surname, the reader will want to consult the index. The editors
have transcribed the text faithfully with a strict regard for original
spellings, punctuation, and text placement, except for the following
rules of normalization:

1. initial words of sentences have been capitalized and ending punc-
tuation marks have been supplied when the syntax is clear (uncertain
constructions are noted and rendered without normalization);

2. conventional spellings have been followed except when misspell-
ings have been clearly written;

3. conventional upper and lower case usage has been followed when
the writer employed multiple and/or irregular forms of the same char-
acter, thus indicating no discernible meaning behind the writer’s use
of capitals;

4. interlineations, cancellations, and unintentional word repetitions
have been ignored unless something more than writing errors may
have been indicated,;

5. short dashes on the base of the line have been transcribed as com-
mas or periods as the syntax may suggest;

6. redundant punctuation and random flourishes or ink marks have
been ignored,;
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7. superscripts have been brought down to the line, and markings
beneath or beside superscripts have been transcribed as single periods;

8. punctuation marks following the abbreviations st, nd, rd, and th
have been deleted;

9. regardless of their position in the original manuscript, the salu-
tation, place of composition, and date have been set on the line or lines
immediately below the document’s heading;

10. place of composition and full date, if omitted but known to the
editors through content analysis, have been supplied in brackets and
noted, and misstatements of place and date have been corrected and
supplied in brackets with the misinformation noted;

11. the complimentary closing has been omitted, and the omission
of same has been indicated by an ellipsis if the closing was written as
part of the ending paragraph;

12. the author’s signature has been rendered in capitals and small
capitals at the end of the text (or supplied within brackets if unwritten
or clipped);

13. the inside address has been omitted, but the information has
been stated in the head note, along with the document’s classification
and repository location;

14. textual interventions (ie., words supplied within brackets) have
been made only to complete probable meanings (garbled texts have
been transcribed without intervention and so noted); and

15. bracketed ellipses have been added to indicate that a portion of
the text has been obliterated by ink blots, sealing wax, or some other
kind of damage, and the nature and extent of same has been noted.

The editors’ identification and explanatory annotations often have
been assembled from standard reference and monographic sources that
are so well known and reliable as to obviate the need for citation.
These considerations, coupled with a desire to ensure that the end-
notes do not overwhelm the presentation of the textual material, have
persuaded the editors to forego the naming of sources in their endnotes.
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CHRONOLOGY

Born in Mecklenburg County, N.C.

Moved to Maury County, Tenn.

Underwent major surgery by Dr. Ephraim
McDowell in Danville, Ky.

Began study under Robert Henderson at
Zion Church Academy

Entered University of North Carolina as
sophomore

Graduated from University of North Carolina

Began reading law in office of Felix Grundy
of Nashville

Elected clerk of the Tennessee Senate

Admitted to the bar

Elected to the Tennessee House

Married Sarah Childress of Murfreesboro

Elected to the U.S. House

Reelected to the U.S. House

Death of his father, Samuel Polk

Reelected to the U.S. House

Death of his brother Franklin, aged 28

Death of his brother Marshall, aged 26

Reelected to the U.S. House

Death of his brother John, aged 24

Reelected to the U.S. House

Chosen to chair the U.S. House Committee
on Ways and Means
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XXVILL Chronology
1834 June Defeated by John Bell for Speaker of the
U.S. House
1835 Aug. Reelected to the U.S. House
Dec. 7 Elected Speaker of the U.S. House
1836 Aug. 6 Death of his sister Naomi, wife of Adlai
O. Harris
1837 Aug. Reelected to the U.S. House
Sept. 4 Reelected Speaker of the U.S. House
1839 Feb. 24 Death of his brother Samuel W., aged 21
Aug. Elected Governor of Tennessee over
Newton Cannon
1840 May Withdrew candidacy for the Democratic
vice-presidential nomination
1841 Aug. Defeated in gubernatorial election by James
C. Jones
1843 Aug. Defeated in gubernatorial election by James
C. Jones
Novw. Recommended by the Tennessee Democratic
State Convention to be the party’s 1844
vice-presidential nominee
1844 May Nominated for the presidency by the
Democratic National Convention
Novw. Elected President of the United States over
Henry Clay
1845 Mar. 4 Inaugurated President of the United States
1849 Mar. 4 Yielded office to his successor, Zachary Taylor

Died in Nashville of cholera
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JULY 1845

TO A. O. P. NICHOLSON'!

My dear Sir Washington City 1st July 1845

I wrote to you three or four days ago requesting you to have search
made for Genl. Jackson’s last letter,2 addressed to me and which has
not yet come to hand. From the enclosed paragraph,? cut from the
New York Herald of yesterday, you will see that the fact stated in the
Nashville Union, that such a letter had been written, is attracting pub-
lic attention and its publication is called for. I have been repeatedly
called on within the last few days concerning the letter.

The public curiosity is becoming great to see the last letter of the
greatest man of the age, written in his own hand writing. If it be not
produced by me or the failure to produce it accounted for the infer-
ence may be that it contained matter, which I was unwilling should
see the light. So far from this being true, I have no doubt, if the letter
itself could be produced I might well be proud of its publication. Un-
less the letter be found among his papers, there is a mystery about its
never having reached me, which ought to be and must be explained.
I hope you will not fail to prosecute the enquiry concerning it as re-
quested in my last letter. If the original cannot be found, its substance
can be given by Andrew Jackson, Jr.* I leave it to your judgement &
discretion to make known to the public the fact that the original has
never reached me. This fact had better appear at Nashville than here.

3
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You will be on the spot, will know the fact that the letter was written
or have its contents detailed by Andrew Jackson Jr & can state the
fact that it has never been received by me. Its failure to reach me you
can account for as the facts you may ascertain in your search for the
letter may justify. I still hope it may be found among the General’s pa-
pers. You see I attach great importance to the letter and I think none
too great.

Though I have been during my whole life as you and all others know
the ardent and constant friend personal & political of the venerable pa-
triot, whose death the whole nation now mourns & whose confidence
and friendship I possessed at every period of my life and never in a
greater degree than in the closing days of his life, yet as you have seen
insidious efforts have been made, by a few?® opposition presses to leave
on the public mind the false impression that such may not have been
the case. In this view the letter is important, not that it is necessary to
disabuse the public mind of the false impression which the Nashville
Whig and other papers of like character would attempt to make over it.
These papers which calumniated and slandered him for years whilst
living, now that he is dead, hypocritically assume to be his defend-
ers and my assailants—by attempting to bring the weight of his great
and deserved popularity to bear on me & my administration. Such
hypocracy & hollow heartedness, can no where be as well exposed as
at Nashville. His last letter to me which I have received was written on
the 26th of May and if necessary may yet see the light. It breathes as
all his letters do (and I have received many since the 4th of March) the
warmest friendship personal and political for me and what is of equal
value his warm approval of the course of my administration as far as it
has progressed.

James K. PoLk

L. DLC-JKP. Addressed to Nashville; marked “Copy” and “Private &
Confidential.”

1. A Democratic member of the Tennessee House from Maury County,
-37, and of the Tennessee Senate, 1843-45, Nicholson served an interim ap-
pointment in the U.S. Senate from December 1840 until February 1842. He
moved to Nashville in 1844 and edited the Nashville Union before becoming
president of the Bank of Tennessee in 1846.

2. See Andrew Jackson to Polk, June 6, 1845.

3. Enclosure not found.

4. Andrew Jackson, Jr., the ex-president’s adopted son, lived at the Her-
mitage with his wife, Sarah Yorke Jackson, and their three children, Rachel,
Andrew III, and Samuel.

5. Here Polk cancelled the words “small men & Whig” and interlined the
word “opposition.”
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TO ABRAHAM P. EYRE ET AL.!

Gentlemen: Washington City 2nd July 1845
Your letter of the 27th ultimo, inviting me on behalf of my Demo-
cratic friends of the fourth Congressional District of Pennsylvania, to
participate with them, in the festivities, at Fair Hill, near Philadel-
phia, on the approaching anniversary of American Independence, has
been received. I regret indispensible public duties, connected with the
high trust which my Fellow Citizens have confided to me, are such as to
render it necessary and proper for me to decline your kind invitation.

I highly appreciate the confidence which you have been pleased to
accord to me, in my responsible position, as the successor of the il-
lustrious Statesmen and patriots, “Jefferson and Jackson,” to whose
political principles, and great public services you allude in your letter.
Time and experience, the wearing tests of the truth and utility of their
political principles, and general National policy, have more and more
confirmed, and established my convictions of the purity of the patrio-
tism and the profound wisdom and forecast by which those great men
were guided in administering our National Government.

Borrowing lessons of instruction from their examples and by con-
stant recurrence to their writings in which they have recorded their
principles and opinions for the benefit of posterity, I am free to say
that “in following in their footsteps,”2 I shall have the conscious sat-
isfaction of believing that I am subserving the best interests of our
beloved Country.

The principles which succeeded in the late election, to which you re-
fer, were as I believe the principles of immutable truth in Republican
Government. The result was the deliberate expression of the will and
the judgment of a great and intelligent people. In that struggle of prin-
ciple I was but the humble instrument in their hands. To no man, to no
local association of men or names, can the triumph of Democratic prin-
ciples, be ascribed. The termination of that contest was an event of vast
importance and my constant aim shall be to promote the interests of
our whole country in all her foreign and domestic policy. In the admin-
istration of the Government I have looked, and I shall continue steadily
to look, to “measures & not men,”3 and I trust that the same spirit of
Union, harmony and devotion to principles, which warmed the bosoms
of our patriotic ancestors, in proclaiming to the world that Indepen-
dence, the anniversary of which you are about to celebrate, may con-
tinue to animate our breasts, in our efforts to maintain and preserve,
the rich legacy of public liberty which they have transmitted to us.
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Be pleased Gentlemen, to convey my thanks to my Fellow Citizens
whom you represent for this invitation, and to accept for yourselves,
my grateful acknowledgements for the kind terms in which you have
communicated it to me.

James K. PoLk

ALS, draft. DLC—JKP. Addressed to Philadelphia and marked “Copy.”

1. Polk addressed this letter to Eyre, a Philadelphia wharf builder, and four
other members of the arrangements committee.

2. Paraphrase from the invitation.

3. Paraphrase of “Measures not men.” Philip Dormer Stanhope, Earl of
Chesterfield, Letters, March 6, 1742.

FROM JAMES H. THOMAS!

Dr. Sir. Columbia, Tenn. July 2d 1845

Upon yesterday I paid Dr. McKissac? $559.99 in full of the note
inclosed.?

I have this day drawn upon you at sight (as you directed) in favor
of J. W. & R. Leavitt of New York for $550.4 If convenient pay $5. to
my subscription to the Washington Union. This with the exchange
which I shall charge Messrs Leavitt will satisfy the whole note to me.
If T had been authorized to draw upon Philadelphia or N. York the
exchange would have been worth more. Your friends here are all well.
We have no news worth your attention. We are in good spirits about
our elections. Jerry Cherry has gone into office & I believe there is as
little complaint as could be expected, but the Observer has not issud
sinse—let it blow.?

James H. THomAs

ALS. DLC—JKP. Addressed to Washington City. Polk’s AE on the cover
states that he received this letter on July 10, 1845.

1. A Columbia lawyer and district attorney, 1836—42, Thomas became Polk’s
law partner in 1843 and later won election as a Democrat to three terms in
Congress, 1847-51 and 1859-61.

2. An early merchant in Maury County, Spivey McKissack served as the
first mayor of Spring Hill.

3. James K. and William H. Polk had given their joint note, dated June 6,
1842, in the amount of $494.12 to their brother-in-law, John B. Hays, in settle-
ment of moneys due him from the late Samuel W. Polk’s estate. According to
Polk’s endorsement of the returned note, Hays had sold it to McKissack; and
on July 1, 1845, Thomas had paid McKissack $559.99 to retire the debt.
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4. John W. and Rufus Leavitt owned a wholesale drygoods store in New
York City.

5. Jeremiah Cherry became Columbia’s postmaster in 1845. The Columbia
Observer championed the Whig party in Maury County.

FROM AARON V. BROWN'!

Dear Sir Greeneville July 3rd 1845

I am here in my canvass having just passd through Blount Knox
Sevier Jefferson and Cock. You know their inveteracy, but they gave
me a good hearing and our friends claim a victory in every one of them.
The Whigs concede a triumph in Knox & Jefferson & Cocke. I do not
know what to say of E Tennessee. I doubt her on account of former
disappointments but really it seems to me we are obliged to gain more
than 500 on the vote of last fall. I keep in fine health & voice & feel con-
scious that I am making some favorable character for myself whether
I am making votes or not.

Foster flags I think & brings up nothing new for the East Tennessee
market.2 He abhors anecdotes & has become quite a philosopher on
the stump. I have twice driven him from his frolic & fun & made him
to beg (privately) for a different mode of debating.

Many applicants will present themselves for Marshall of East
Tennessee. One from Dandridge (Neff) requested me to write to you.3
But you know East Tennessee better than I do & you must judge
for yourself.

I think we shall carry the Legislature by from five to Eight mem-
bers & entertain but little doubt of it. I learn that the senatorial
dispute in this district is to be settled to day.* This leaves our party
pretty free of difficulties & the election will come on under favorable
circumstances—no excitement. I have sought to keep it down under
the belief that it was best for us.

I close with the most sincere wish for your health & happiness &
that of Mrs P.5

A. V. BRowN

ALS. Polk Memorial Association, Columbia. Addressed to Washington City.

1. Polk’s former law partner and close friend from Pulaski, Brown served
in the Tennessee Senate and House, 1821-33, in the U.S. House, 183945,
and in the Tennessee governorship, 1845-47. From 1857 until his death in
1859, Brown held the post of postmaster general in the administration of
James Buchanan.

2. Ephraim H. Foster, a Nashville lawyer and one of the early leaders of
the Whig party in Tennessee, served three terms in the Tennessee House,
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1827-31 and 1835-37. Appointed to the U.S. Senate following the resig-
nation of Felix Grundy in 1838, Foster won election to a full six-year term
beginning March 4, 1839, but resigned in November of that year, having
pledged to leave office should a Democratic majority be elected to the next
legislature. He later served an interim term in the Senate from October of
1843 until March 3, 1845.

3. David Neff is not identified further.

4. Brown refers to the contest between Alfred Martin and Crawford W. Hall
to serve as the Democratic candidate for Tennessee’s First Senatorial District.
Martin, a Washington County physician, served two terms in the Tennessee
House, 1837-41, and won election to a term in the state senate, 1845-47. Hall,
a lawyer originally from Kentucky, served as U.S. attorney for East Tennessee,
1865-69.

5. Sarah Childress Polk.

FROM PAUL DILLINGHAM, JR.!

Washington 3 July 1845

Dillingham states that he has supplied documents relating to the collector-

ship at Alburg, Vt., and acknowledges Polk’s direction “to call at any time” to

“talk over that subject.” Notes that he called to urge removal of the incum-

bent, Archibald W. Hyde, 2 and waited as directed until informed that Polk had

departed and “had left no message for me.” Dillingham claims that “the great
mass of the people” supports the appointment of Russell G. Hopkinson. 3

ALS. DLC—JKP. Addressed locally and marked “Private.”

1. A Democrat from Waterbury, Dillingham served in the Vermont House,
1833-35 and 1837—-40; in the Vermont Senate, 1841-42 and 1861; and two
terms in the U.S. House, 1843—47. He won election to the governorship in 1865
and served until 1866.

2. Archibald W. Hyde served as collector of customs at Alburg, Vt., from
1844 until 1845.

3. Russell G. Hopkinson received an appointment to the collectorship at
Alburg, Vt., in 1845 and served until 1849.

TO EGBERT SOMENDIKE ET AL.!

Gentlemen: Washington City 3 July 1845
Your letter of the 28th ultimo inviting me on behalf of the Demo-
cratic citizens of the third Congressional District of Pennsylvania to
join them in celebrating the approaching anniversary of National In-
dependence, demands my warmest acknowledgements.?2
I regret that indispensible public engagements will detain me at
Washington & must prevent my acceptance. I share in the fullest
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extent your confidence in the great mass of the people. None are
more entitled to that confidence than the Democracy of the County
of Philadelphia who hold fast to the Republican faith from the early
days of Jefferson to the closing scenes of the patriotic administrations
of Jackson and Van Buren. The people are the rightful source & safe
depository of power. They are the truest preservers & interpreters
of sound Republican principles: their influence in the management of
public affairs is the purest & most disinterested. The preservation and
advancement of their happiness & prosperity is the just & great duty
of every American Statesman. Elected to the most responsible station
by their suffrages I devote myself to the best of my ability to their in-
terests, fearlessly entrusting my good name to their guardianship &
my administration to their support. It is in this manner that I would
express my deep-rooted gratitude to the Democracy of the County of
Philadelphia and of the Keystone state, for the hearty & decisive en-
ergy with which they maintained their principles in the late political
contest to which you refer in your letter.?3 With many regrets that I
cannot be with you on the glorious occasion to which you invite me....
James K. PoLk

L, draft. DLC—JKP. Addressed to Philadelphia and marked “Copy.”

1. Polk addressed this letter to Egbert Somendike, William Hall, George C.
Geyer, S. B. Kingston, John Johnson, and Benjamin E. Carpenter. Somendike
is not identified further.

2. See Egbert Somendike et al. to Polk, June 28, 1845. DLC—JKP.

3. Polk refers to the 1844 presidential election.

FROM JOHN H. STECK!

Dr Sir: Phila July 3, 1845

I am but an humble citizen, and withal a stranger to you personally;
still I beg leave to call your attention to a matter of the deepest concern
to myself, which I will endeavor to explain in a few words.

From the summer of 1840 to December 1844, I published a Demo-
cratic paper at Harrisburg, in this State. The paper would have been
continued, but for the want of support. I retired from the concern poor.
At the instance of some of my friends at Harrisburg, I made applica-
tion to the late Collector of this Port (Judge Blythe) and early in March
last, received an appointment from him at $800 per annum.2 When
Mr. Horn was appointed to succeed him, I made application to be con-
tinued, accompanied with letters from Gov. Shunk, a majority of the
Democratic members of the late Legislature, the two Senatorial Elec-
tors, Messrs. McCandless & Dimock, Col. Wright, Prest. of the Balti-
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more Convention, &c &c.? A few days since I also handed to Mr Horn
a very strong letter from Col. Richard M. Johnson of Ky. on the same
subject.* Notwithstanding all this array of strength, I have every rea-
son to believe, that the Collector intends to remove me for what cause 1
know not, except to make room for some personal friend. I have been a
Democrat ever since I became a voter, and I am unconscious of having
committed any political sins, either as the conductor of a public jour-
nal or in a more humble capacity. I know very well that Mr. Horn was
a warm friend of Mr. Van Buren—that he desired his nomination &c.
For my own part, I took a position as early as 1842, for a new man, and
maintained it till the meeting of the Baltimore Convention. Perhaps 1
am to be sacrificed for having so widely differed from the views of Mr.
Horn on a mere question of expediency. I hope, however, that no such
retracted notions may be harbored.

A few words more and I shall close: I have been in office scarcely four
months. I have a family dependent upon my exertions for support; and
with the expectation of remaining here for a respectable length of time,
I brought them with me from the interior. A removal now would place
me in a truly awkward position.

I have written this letter to you with the advice of some of my friends
in Phila. If you can in any way, consistent with your high station, aid
me in the present crisis, I shall be under deep and abiding obligation.

I can refer you to Hon. Geo. M. Dallas and Hon. Chs. J. Ingersoll,
of Phila, Gen Hays, Hon. Richard Brodhead, Gen. R. H. Hammond,
Gen. J. B. Anthony, and Hon. Luther Reily, from the interior, as to my
political standing, &c.?

JNo H. StEck

ALS. DLC-JKP. Addressed to Washington City; marked “Private.” Polk’s
AE on the cover states that he received this letter on July 4, 1845.

1. Steck published the Harrisburg National Enquirer prior to his appoint-
ment as principal night inspector for the Delaware wharves.

2. Calvin Blythe served as customs collector at Philadelphia from 1843 until
his removal in 1845.

3. Henry Horn, Francis R. Shunk, Wilson McCandless, Asa Dimock, and
Hendrick B. Wright. A Jackson Democrat and Van Buren loyalist, Horn sat one
term in the U.S. House, 1831-33; in 1845 and again in 1846 Polk nominated
Horn to be collector at Philadelphia but failed to secure his confirmation. A
lawyer from Pittsburgh, Shunk had served as clerk of the Pennsylvania House
and as secretary of the commonwealth, 1839-42. Elected governor in 1844 and
reelected in 1847, he served from 1845 until 1848, when ill health forced him to
resign. McCandless, a Pittsburgh Democrat and attorney, served as president
of the Pennsylvania electoral college in 1844. Dimock, a Susquehannah County
Democrat, served the Pennsylvania House and Senate, 1836-37 and 1842-44.
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Wright, who chaired the 1844 Democratic National Convention, won election
to four terms in the U.S. House, 1853-55, 1861-63, and 1877-81.

4. Johnson, a Kentucky lawyer and hero of the War of 1812, served in both
houses of Congress before election to the vice-presidency by the U.S. Senate
in 1837.

5. George M. Dallas, Charles J. Ingersoll, Samuel Hays, Richard Brodhead,
Robert H. Hammond, Joseph B. Anthony, and Luther Reily. Dallas, a promi-
nent member of the “Family” party in Pennsylvania, counted himself for many
years a staunch Van Burenite; his revival of the “Old Hickory Club” in 1843
helped remove James Buchanan’s name from the list of potential presiden-
tial nominees. Early in 1844 Dallas followed the lead of Robert J. Walker
in advocating the annexation of Texas. Ingersoll, a Pennsylvania lawyer and
Democrat, served as a member of the U.S. House, 1813-15 and 1841-49; as
U.S. district attorney for Pennsylvania, 1815-29; and as state assemblyman
in 1830. He went to Prussia in 1837 as secretary of legation and became U.S.
district judge for Connecticut in 1853. A native of Ireland, Hays served as a
Democrat in numerous elective local and state offices representing Venango
County. He served one term in the U.S. House, 1843-45, and two years as
U.S. marshal for the Western District of Pennsylvania, 1847-49. An Easton
lawyer and Democrat, Brodhead served in the Pennsylvania House, 1837-39;
the U.S. House, 1843—49; and the U.S. Senate, 1851-57. A two-term U.S. con-
gressman from Pennsylvania, 1837—41, Hammond served as a lieutenant in
the army from 1814 to 1820; he accepted a commission in 1846 as paymas-
ter with the rank of major. Wounded in the Mexican War, Hammond died en
route home on sick leave in 1847. Anthony served in the Pennsylvania Senate,
1830-33, and in the U.S. House, 1833—-37; and he presided over Pennsylvania’s
Eighth District Court from 1844 until his death in 1851. Reily, a Harrisburg
physician and veteran of the War of 1812, served one term as a Democrat in
the U.S. House, 1837-39.

FROM PETER BESANCON, JR.!

Dr. Sir New Orleans, July 4 [18]45

The Revenue Cutter Woodbury arrived at the S.W. Pass at 10 o’clock
yesterday. Capt. Foster? came up with dispatches from Major
Donelson.? They were entrusted to Col. Saml. Marshall* of Nashville,
who died at Galveston from exposure to the sun in travelling from the
seat of Government. Capt. Foster informs me that a report reached
Galveston before he left that Maj. Donelson was seriously ill. I hope
the report will prove unfounded. My Brother® had reached Galveston,
and would immediately proceed to the interior.

The Congress of Texas was to adjourn, by resolution, on 28th June.
Com. Stockton® sailed from Galveston on the 23d., with brig Porpoise
in co’y Sloop of War, Saratoga, some say, for Pensacola, and Sloop St.
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Mary left on 26th for same place. The departure of the squadron caused
considerable regret at Galveston.
The troops from Fort Jessup will be there in a day or two for the
place of destination.
PETER BESANCON, JR.

ALS. DLC-JKP. Addressed to Washington City.

1. Not identified further.

2. Reference is to Winslow Foster, captain of the revenue cutter Woodbury.

3. A nephew of Rachel Jackson’s, Andrew Jackson Donelson served as pri-
vate secretary to Andrew Jackson, 1829-37; accepted appointment as chargé
d’affaires to Texas in the fall of 1844; and guided negotiations leading to its
annexation in 1845. Donelson later served as U.S. minister to Prussia during
the Polk administration.

4. Not identified further.

5. Reference probably is to Lorenzo A. Besancon. Born in New York,
Besangon moved to Mississippi and founded the Natchez Mississippi Free
Trader in 1835. Named president of the state bank commission in 1837, he
moved to New Orleans in the early 1840’s and later served as a captain in the
Louisiana Mounted Volunteers during the Mexican War.

6. Robert F. Stockton received a midshipman’s appointment in 1811; rose to
the rank of commander while serving in the Mediterranean squadron, 1816—
21; took an extended duty leave from 1828 until 1838; commanded the U.S.S.
Princeton when in 1844 its gun, the Peacemaker, exploded and killed Secretary
of State Abel P. Upshur and Secretary of the Navy Thomas W. Gilmer; directed
sea and land operations in California 1846—47; resigned from the navy in 1850;
and won election as a Democrat to the U.S. Senate in 1851.

FROM JOHN A. BRYAN!

Legation of the U. States
Dear Sir: Lima, Peru, 4th July 1845
By the Packet which is expected to leave to day for Panama, I have
taken the liberty of sending the message of the Prest. of this Republic
to the Peruvian Congress.? It came to hand too late, or I should with
much pleasure have made a translation to accompany it. I also send
one of the public journals here, in which the message, and some of
the proceedings of the congress here, will appear.? The present is the
only session of the national Legislature which has happened for many
years. The country has been in such a constant state of Revolution as
to have swallowed up every thing else. A fair prospect is now before
this distracted land of a little respit from the desolations of war, and
yet it is impossible to tell what a few months may produce. This is the
4th President elected in about 2 years.
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Something of a sharp correspondence is now in progress between
myself, on the part of the U. States, and the Minister of Foreign Affairs
here,* a full detail of which is with the Secretary of State.? It certainly
demands serious attention, as you will not fail to discover. I have asked
the advice of my government, and will expect as early a reply as can be
made to reach me; but the great uncertainty how that may be, is the
cause of some uneasiness with me. As an evidence how very tardy is
the receipt of all intelligence from the U. States at this point, I need
only mention that our latest dates from Washington are to the 28th
of January.

Of course, I am yet unappraised of my own fate before the Senate.
I expected nothing better than defeat from a body thus constituted. I
have probably been too zealous & ardent a politician to suit them. I
shall certainly be disappointed to hear of my confirmation, for I have
devoted a whole life in waging war against federalism.

We of course have heard nothing of the new cabinet, nor of the new
order of things under your administration. A mail is daily and hourly
looked for that will undoubtedly bring us this intelligence. I learned,
incidentally, about ten days since, that the joint resolutions for the an-
nexation of Texas had passed both Houses, & that hostile movements
had followed in Mexico. If so, it is of very vital interest to all on this
coast to learn the facts. The express mail will undoubtedly bring the
particulars. I will try and hold this open to note its arrival.

You have no time for the perusal of long letters, altho coming from
a long distance. Your entrance upon the duties of the high station
you occupy was no doubt followed with all the labor and difficulty in-
cident to such a situation, but you will allow me, Dr. Sir, altho in a
distant clime, to drop a word of congratulation for the great triumph
achieved by our party and friends. Tho “no Prophet, nor the Son of a
Prophet,”® I do allow myself a look back upon the canvass with some
self satisfaction, that, at no period during the contest, did I indulge a
doubt as to the final result. You may recollect my writing you from
N. York, giving it as my opinion, amid the many dark clouds then
hanging over our prospects, that we should carry that State, and at
the same time believing that we would lose Ohio.” But I forget, my
dear Sir, that I am trespassing on your time and duties. In express-
ing my anxious prayers that you may enjoy every possible success in
your administration of the government, and that it may be followed
by an unexampled state of public prosperity, I conceive that I do but
echo the sentiments of the great mass of the American people. I have
the utmost confidence that my wishes in this particular will meet with
no disappointments.
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The expected mail is not yet at hand, and I am forced to close this let-
ter. In case of my rejection, I shall of course be on my return soon, but
it will, tho a looked for event, meet me with considerable regret, since I
have scarcely had an opportunity to make a general acquaintance with
the people of this country, or even to fully ascertain what would best
promote the interests of my own. It will prove a misfortune should
I be rejected, but it will be the easier borne when coming from my
political adversaries.

JoHN A. Brvan

ALS. DLC-JKP. Addressed to Washington City. Polk’s AE on the cover
states that he received this letter on October 1, 1845.

1. An Ohio Democrat, Bryan served as state auditor, 1833—39; as assistant
postmaster general, 1842-44; and as chargé d’affaires to Peru, 1844—45.

2. Enclosures not found. Ramdn Castilla, a veteran of the wars of indepen-
dence, served twice as president of Peru, 1845-51 and 1855—62.

3. Enclosure not found.

4. José Gregorio Paz y Soldan served as the foreign minister of Peru during
Bryan’s tenure. Bryan refers to his diplomatic despatch of the same day re-
garding two disputes between the United States and Peru. DNA-RG 59. The
Peruvian government had refused to allow U.S. officials to recover deserting
American sailors and had repudiated the Convention of 1841 providing for in-
demnity payments to U.S. citizens for property seized during Peru’s civil wars.
The Peruvian government later ratified the treaty with revisions on Octo-
ber 21, 1845, and the treaty was proclaimed in Washington City on January 8,
1847. Hunter Miller, ed., Treaties and Other International Acts of the United
States of America (Washington: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1934), IV, pp.
329-48.

5. Bryan also wrote Secretary of State James Buchanan on July 4, 1845,
but his despatch did not enlarge upon information previously supplied in his
despatch of June 5, 1845. DNA-RG 59. Despatches from United States Min-
isters to Peru, 1826-1906 (Microfilm T-52, Roll 7).

6. Paraphrase of the quotation, Amos 8:14. “I was no prophet, neither was
I a prophet’s son.”

7. Reference is to Bryan’s letter to Polk, September 7, 1844. DLC—JKP.

FROM JAMES CONNER!

New York, N.Y. July 4, 1845

Upon learning of an attempt to remove Van Brugh Livingston? from the
New York City Customs House, Conner writes to assure Polk that Livingston
“has kept far aloof from all the intrigues connected with the New York Custom
House establishment, and has cooperated with ‘the Party’ ever since I have had
the honor of his acquaintance.” Conner compares Livingston’s efforts in “the



July 4 1845 15

interests of the ¢rue Republican Party” with the “hostility to him exhibited by
the class of professed Democracy.” Conner states that Livingston contributed
to the electoral victory of 1844 by “recovering from the ranks of the ‘Nativeists’
the misled portion of our friends,” which resulted in a 2900 vote difference
“between our majority on the Electoral ticket, (which was about 1900) and
their majority on the State Assembly ticket, (which was about 1000).”3 Conner
expresses his faith that Polk’s “well known sense of Justice, and views of right”
will ensure the defeat of this “disgraceful attempt to destroy a gentleman of
honor, and of moral and political rectitude.”

LS. DLC—JKP. Addressed to Washington City.

1. Conner, grand sachem of the Tammany Society, served as New York
County clerk.

2. Livingston served as an appraiser in the New York City Customs House
until his appointment as chargé d’affaires to Ecuador in 1848.

3. Native American candidates swept all thirteen New York City state as-
sembly seats, while the Democratic presidential ticket carried the city by
nearly 2,000 votes. New York City Whigs had agreed to vote for the Ameri-
can Party’s state assembly ticket in exchange for reciprocal support for their
presidential ticket; the Whigs subsequently complained that the nativists did
not keep their part of the arrangement.

FROM J. GEORGE HARRIS!

My Dear Sir, Nashville July 4, 1845

After the most minute inquiry,? it seems that on Friday the 6th ul-
timo Gen. Jackson’s boy Tom, brought to the Nashville Post Office four
letters from the Hermitage: one from the Genl’s own hand directed
and franked to the President, another from him to Gen Plauché of New
Orleans, and two from his adopted son to his brothers (Donelson) un-
der the Genl’s frank—all which departed in the next day morning’s
mail.3 The chief clerk of the P. O. (who makes up the packages) is now
satisfied of this fact.4 He at first thought there were only three—two
of them being directed to the same family name—and his first impres-
sion was that the N. O. letter was to the General’s merchant to whom
he often wrote,5 but he is now satisfied of the fact as above stated.
The number, you know, also corresponds with the memory of a junior
clerk.® It would seem to be evident, therefore, that if the package of
letters for Washington mailed here on the morn of the 7th arrived un-
broken at the place of their destination, the fault must be at your city
P. O. If otherwise it may be difficult to ascertain where it was broken
on the way.

dJ. GEo. HARRIS
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ALS. DLC—JKP. Addressed to Washington City. Polk’s AE on the cover
states that he received this letter on July 11, 1845.

1. A staunch New England Democrat, Harris had been associated with the
New London Political Observer (Conn.), the New Bedford Gazette (Mass.), the
Boston Bay State Democrat, and the Boston Morning Post before assuming
the editorship of the Nashville Union on February 1, 1839. In March 1843
Harris received a commission from Secretary of State Daniel Webster to serve
as special commercial agent of the United States for American tobacco sales
in Europe.

2. Polk charged Harris with investigating the disappearance of Andrew
Jackson’s last letter. For the text of that letter, see Andrew Jackson to Polk,
June 6, 1845.

3. Jean Baptiste Plauché and Andrew Jackson, Jr. A New Orleans mer-
chant and cotton broker, Plauché commanded a battalion of city militia under
Andrew Jackson’s command during the Battle of New Orleans. He won elec-
tion as lieutenant governor of Louisiana in 1850. Andrew Jackson, Jr., had
four surviving brothers in 1845, John, Thomas J., Samuel R., and Alexander
Donelson. Andrew Jackson’s slave Tom is not identified further.

4. Reference is to P. M. Sands, who is not identified further.

5. An Irish-born sugar planter and cotton broker, Maunsel White came
to New Orleans in 1801. He led a volunteer company at the Battle of
New Orleans; marketed Jackson’s cotton crops until 1845; and represented
Plaquemines Parish in the Louisiana Senate from 1846 until 1850.

6. Reference is to John G. Wilson, who is not identified further.

FROM SACKFIELD MACLIN'!

Dear Sir, Little Rock Ark’s July 4th 1845

Gov Yell Col Sevier and the Hon Andrew Johnson of Ten (in a recent
letter) informed me, that you said to them, while in a conversation in
relation to your old friends, that you intended to confer upon me an
appointment during the summer worthy my attention.? This informa-
tion was gratifying to me on several accounts. 1st Because the office
would proceed from an individual to whom I am personally attached,
and whose prosperity I ardently desire. 21y, Because my circumstances
have become so reduced (owning to politics principly) that I regard my
future prospects eminently dependant upon it.

If an unwavering support of democratic men and measures, If a con-
sumption of time and money for the support of the party gives claim to
office, I have (as you know) the benefit of all. I know however, that hon-
esty and capability are the grand considerations with you, in relation
to which, I can only say, my friends claim both for me.

If those Hon Gentlemen have not deceivd me (which I do not be-
lieve) the sooner the appointment is made the better for me, as my
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arrangements are in that condition that would enable me to enter
upon the discharge of its duties immediately. If it is necessary for me
to have reccomendations to satisfy the Senate, and I could have the
least indication of it, I would procure them from public and private
men, including our delegation in congress, that would be satisfactory
no doubt.

You will allow me to say, that during last winter at Washington many
members of congress voluntarily proposed to sign a reccomendation for
me, but I declined it, because I knew you were much annoyed; and
was deeply disgusted at the maneuvering of office hunters, and could
not consent to be considered one of them. Furthermore, I know you
would have much difficulty in launching your administration so as to
command the cordial support of all divisions of the democratic party.
I am pleased however to see you have done so—at least you have not
created any decided opposition from any division of the party—which
I consider good evidence that your administration will be successful
and popular.

Now that all the departments of the government are going so pros-
perously, and you have the support of all divisions of the party, I am
unable to see why I should not write you this letter, particularly af-
ter what has been said to me by those distinguished men. Tho, I have
thought much about the propriety. After all, allow me to assure you,
there is no personal consideration could induce me to accept office if it
would embarrass your administration in the least. For I have ever felt
the liberties of the people mainly depended upon the success of those
great principles which you have always supported, and upon which you
will administer the government, no doubt. If however, I can occupy a
position, which will enable me by the most vigalent attention to ad-
vance anyone of those great principles, I shall be exceedingly gratified.
In view of all the facts, will it be too much for me to expect an answer?
If not, I shall consider what you write as private and confiden/tial]®
if desirable.

SACKFIELD MACLIN

ALS. DLC—JKP. Addressed to Washington City. Polk’s AE on the cover
states, “A worthy man but I have no place in my gift, at present that will suit
him. Recd, 20th July 1845. Private.”

1. Maclin represented Fayette, Hardeman, and Shelby couties in the
Tennessee Senate, 1841-43. After his legislative service, he moved to Texas.

2. Archibald Yell, Ambrose H. Sevier, and Andrew Johnson. A close personal
and political friend of Polk, Yell practiced law in Fayetteville, Tenn., until his
appointment as U.S. judge of the Arkansas Territory in 1832. He won elec-
tion to several terms in the U.S. House, 1836-39 and 1845-46, and served as
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governor of Arkansas from 1840 until 1844. In 1845 Polk sent Yell to Texas
to assist Andrew J. Donelson in his negotiations with the Texas government.
Yell died in the Mexican War at the Battle of Buena Vista in 1847. Sevier
represented Arkansas Territory from 1828 to 1836 in the U.S. House and won
election as a Democrat to two terms in the U.S. Senate, 1836-48.

3. Word partially obliterated by a tear in the manuscript.

FROM JOHN CATRON'!

My Dear sir. Nashville, July 5, 1845

Mrs. Marshall has returned, and gives us rather unfavorable ac-
counts of your health, about which great anxiety is felt by your friends,
who hope you will slack your labours a little.?2 There is more solicitude
felt on this subject than you can be aware of, originating in your known
habits of excessive application.

Gnl. Houston3 is still here —his health improving some; it was very
poor when he arrived. His wife* is now unwel—in each case owing
to the influence of a southern residence—in the damp woods & in
sorry houses. Gnl. H. spoke two hours on Texas matters® to a large
crowd; explained his position generally, and his course in regard to
annexation during his last Administration; his correspondence with
Gnl. Jackson. Stated the annexation policy had been left to slumber
during Mr LeMar’s® term, and been resusitated by him. I know per-
sonally, that Gnl. H. acted as I then thought, and now think, with
prudence, and a high degree of sagacity in his instructions to Mr.
Vanzant,” who was, so kind as to consult me much on the instruc-
tions desired fr Presdt. Houston to Mr. Vanzant—and it was through
me, and founded on a letter by me to Gnl. Jackson, that he wrote to
Prest. Houston urging him to make the Treaty, (that was rejected by
the Senate U.S.) with Mr Tyler’s administration. My information to
Gnl. Jackson was, that very probably the Senate would be fabourable
in the end to the treaty. This was a great mistake, & which I at-
tempted to correct in less than ten days after my first letter: But by
the time my second letter to Gnl. Jackson reached him—to say the
least, his founded on the first, was laid before Presdt. Houston—& he
did give the instruction founded as my error. Gnl. Jackson replied
to me to let it take its course; it would bring the matter before the
people of the two Governments, and the People would correct the
error of the Senate in due time. A Texas messenger was at Wash-
ington, & to leave in a day—Gnl. Jackson’s letter was to meet him at
N. Orleans—and it did so. Being in for the blunder, I have felt deeply
on the subject, and now feel bound to support Gnl. Houston’s course;
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which was not only honest, but highly sagacious and Statesman like,
& I am endeavouring in my quiet way, to place him in his proper posi-
tion. Mark it my dear sir, I could not safely allege the mistake for Gnl.
Jackson’s sake. He thought & said the best way was to press onward —
indeed his Cortez like character admitted of no different course consis-
tently with his previous career: He could not turn back with honour.

A letter from Galveston published in the Washington Union does
Gnl. Houston but bear Justice; and I hope that press, (now taking a
very high stand), will do our friend the ample justice due to him; as
all that may be said in local papers, will amount to little compared
with the “Organ”—as Mr. Gales® will have it—& which has done Mr.
Ritchie,? and the Union, great service.

I take and read the Intelligencer and Union down to the last page,
and feel very sure nothing is to be feared at this day from the once
potent Intelligencer—once strong as the Mississippi full to the top of
its banks, but now sober as that great water winding its slow course
through the sandbars in October. It can neither hurt, or help much.

The contest for Gov. in Ten. is progressing with a degree of quiet
that is marvellous. I have not heard it named by a whig in a month,
& rarely by the other side. A little temper is occasionally apparent by
disappointed persons on their own account, (whigs) but no one else’s
griefs or prospects are included.

The cornerstone of the Capital was laid yesterday—a large concourse
present—opolitics excluded of course. Ed. H. Ewing Esqr.1° made the
speech, and eulogized very handsomely the memory of Gnl. Jackson,
as by far the most distinguished citizen Tene. could boast of, and as an
object of her highest pride, and to whom she owed deep gratitude; and
whose history would be known 500 years hence, when the cornerstone
was broke up and its contents exposed to the antiquaries of the 25th
Century! My God, to think of 500 years hence! The depths of Eternity
having no relief but the hope of Immortality. You too will make part of
the History of the first Century of the Great Republic; the History of its
Infancy, in the estimate of 500 years hence. This is some consolation, if
we may not see its future destiny and splendor—great it is to be—and
may God grant you life and health long to aid in its onward course.

dJ. CATRON

ALS. DLC—JKP. Addressed to Washington City. Polk’s AE on the cover
states that he received this letter on July 12th.

1. Appointed to the U.S. Supreme Court in the last days of the Jackson
administration, Catron shared Polk’s most sensitive political confidences; he
helped the Nashville Union financially and occasionally wrote editorials for it.

2. Reference probably is to Jane Childress Marshall, wife of Samuel B.
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Marshall and sister of Catron’s wife, Matilda Childress Catron. According
to the Washington Union of June 11th, Polk became “slightly indisposed” on
June 9th, did not go to his room at the State Department, nor “see company
at his quarters at Coleman’s.” On June 12th the President, though feeling bet-
ter, had not recovered from his indisposition; on June 13th he rode out “for a
short time”; and on June 14th he met his cabinet at the State Department and
“attended to his usual duties with his usual spirit.”

3. Sam Houston, a former governor of Tennessee, twice won election as pres-
ident of Texas, 1836-38 and 1841-44. After Texas’ annexation to the Union,
he served the state as U.S. senator, 1846-59, and as governor, 1859-61.

4. Margaret Lea Houston.

5. On June 17, 1845, a group of Nashville citizens, representing both the
Democratic and Whig parties, invited Sam Houston to attend a barbecue in
his honor on June 28. The invitation, published in the Nashville Union on
June 19, suggested that Houston would use the occasion to provide “an account
of the past and present condition of Texas.” Accepting the invitation, Houston
attended the barbecue and addressed an enthusiastic crowd for two hours on
the subject of Texas. He traced the course of Texas history, enumerated the
advantages of annexation to the United States, and declared popular support
in Texas for union to be a “fixed fact.” Nashville Union, July 1, 1845.

6. Mirabeau B. Lamar, a native of Georgia, edited the Columbus Enquirer,
1826-35, and fought under Sam Houston in the Battle of San Jacinto; Lamar
succeeded Houston as the second president of the Republic of Texas, 1838-41.

7. Born in Franklin County, Tenn., Isaac Van Zandt migrated first to
Mississippi and then to Texas, where he practiced law. He represented
Harrison County one term in the Texas House, 1840-42, and served as chargé
d’affaires to the United States from 1842 until 1844.

8. Joseph Gales, Jr., and William W. Seaton published the Washington
National Intelligencer, the Register of Debates in Congress, the Annals of
Congress, and American State Papers. Gales served three terms as mayor of
Washington City, 1827-30.

9. Editor of the Richmond Enquirer from 1804 until 1845, Thomas Ritchie
served unofficially as political manager of the Virginia Democracy. Ritchie
formed a partnership with John P. Heiss of Nashville and purchased the
Washington Globe from Francis P. Blair and John C. Rives on April 12, 1845.
Ritchie changed the newspaper’s name to that of the Washington Union and
issued his first number on April 14th.

10. A lawyer from Nashville, Edwin H. Ewing served as a Whig in the
Tennessee House, 1841—-43, and in the U.S. House, 1845-47.

FROM DAVID VANN ET AL.!

Fullers Hotell Washington July 5th 1845
The undersigned a dellagation from their nation, the cherokees, now
at the Seat of the General Government on, business of their nation,
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are apprehensive that their present, able, efficient & impartial agent
Govnor. P. M. Butler will not be continued after the expiration of the
term for which he was appointed, near four years ago.2 They therefore
earnestly entreat your Excellency, to take into consideration the wishes
of the whole nation, however much they may be divided in opinions
upon other Subjects, and continue to us the Agent of our choice.? Gov.
Butler combines more of the requisite qualities to unite and produce
harmony among our people than any other man liveing, as we believe
and it would be a source of painful regret should we be deprived of his
council and efficient Services.

We therefore must trust that no considerations of public duty
may render it necessary for you to discontinue the Services of
Govnor Butler.

Davip Vann

LS. DLC—JKP. Addressed locally.

1. This letter was signed by Vann and five others representing the Cherokee
Nation. The National Council appointed Vann treasurer in 1851.

2. Governor of South Carolina, 1836—38, and agent to the Cherokees, Pierce
M. Butler formed a South Carolina volunteer regiment to fight in the Mexican
War and died in battle in 1847.

3. Factional splits among the Cherokees included members of the Old Set-
tlers, who removed west of the Mississippi River prior to 1835; the Treaty
party, who relocated following the signing of the Treaty of New Echota in
1835; the John Ross party, who resisted until their forced removal in 1838—
39; and the North Carolina Cherokees, who remained in the Appalachian
Mountains. The Treaty party and Old Settlers had combined to ask that the
U.S. government divide Cherokee land and remaining money payments be-
tween themselves and the Ross party on a per capita basis, thus effecting a
political separation of the two factions. The Ross party opposed that course
of action.

FROM A. O. P. NICHOLSON

Dear Sir: Nashville July 6th/45

I recd yours of the 28th ult. last night and was much surprised to
learn that Gen. Jackson’s last letter has failed to reach its destination. !
I called on Col. Cheatham this morning and one by one conversed with
his clerks.? I found that Mr. Jackson had been down yesterday anx-
iously seeking some clue to the strange affair. I understand that he
has searched thoroughly for the letter but has made no discoveries and
that he is fully satisfied that it is not amongst his father’s papers. 1
learn he has written to you on the subject.? He is to be in town tomor-
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row when I will have a thorough conversation with him. His belief is
that the letter was handed to one of their servants to be deposited in
the Post Office on Saturday (I believe) and he has interrogated the boy
who affirms that he did so deposit it.* Three of the clerks in the office
recall letters with Gen. Jackson’s frank which were mailed either on
Friday or Saturday night—they do not agree entirely in their recollec-
tion as to the time, but I believe it may be set down as certain that the
letters to which they refer being three in number—two south and one
north—were mailed on Friday night—on this point Dibbrell is posi-
tive & he says one of the letters was to Gen. Plauché and one to Maj
Donelson and the other to Col. Butler either of Ky or N.Y. he is not
certain which.? All three were directed by A. Jackson Jr. and franked
by Gen. Jackson. No one in the office has any recollection of a letter
to you except a young man named Wilson but he is so clearly mis-
taken that he must confuse it with a previous letter. He says the let-
ter to you was directed by Gen. Jackson and was franked by him, but
Andrew Jackson says it was directed by himself and was not franked
at all. So it is clear Wilson is mistaken and there is no evidence that
the letter did come into the office, at least none of the clerks have any
recollection of such letter. The question then is whether the servant
ever brought it to the office? From present appearances, I am of opin-
ion the letter has never been deposited in the Post Office but must
have been lost between the Hermitage and Nashville. The Washington
Package of letters which arrived at Washington ought to show conclu-
sively the truth of this matter. It was tied and sealed up here and
directed to Washington City and if it arrived there without its seals
broken and its contents corresponding with way-bill, and no such let-
ter in the package, it is conlusive that it was never deposited in the
office here, and that it must have been lost before it reached the of-
fice in Nashville. I conclude that the letter either never left the Her-
mitage or was lost on the way to Nashville. I have not yet learned
who were at the Hermitage when the letter was written and when
it was started, but on to-morrow I will know and by the next mail
I will write you again. Andrew Jackson is much concerned about it
and will be active in trying to ferret it out. I will give him all the
help in my power, for besides the invaluable character of the docu-
ment itself it may turn out to be [...]% in other cases. I write you this
hasty account of the matters, intending to-morrow to know more and
write again.

Our friends here are in good spirits as to the election. Indeed I fear
they are too confident. There is so little excitement that I know not
how to count as to the result. Whatever zeal or animation there is is
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all in our ranks and I fear no more can be created. We have information
here that Sam Turney will be beaten; if so, we lose the Senate.” Our
chances are decidedly best for a majority on joint vote but amidst such
a calm I fear to be too confident.

A. O. P. NI1cHOLSON

ALS. DLC—JKP. Addressed to Washington City and marked “Private.”

1. See Polk to A. O. P. Nicholson, June 28, 1845.

2. Leonard P. Cheatham, Edwin Dibrell, P. M. Sands, and John G. Wilson. A
lawyer and leading Democrat, Cheatham replaced Robert Armstrong as post-
master of Nashville in March of 1845. Dibrell served as recorder of Nashville
from 1828 until 1838; he became a clerk in the Nashville Post Office in 1844.

3. See Andrew Jackson, Jr., to Polk, June 30, 1845.

4. Reference is to Jackson’s slave, Tom.

5. Jean Baptiste Plauché, Andrew J. Donelson, and either William O. Butler
or Benjamin F. Butler. William O. Butler fought in the Battle of New Orleans;
served as an aide to Andrew Jackson; and sat in the Kentucky House, 1817—
18. He won election as a Democrat to two terms in the U.S. House, 1839—
43, but lost his gubernatorial bid in 1844 to William Owsley, nominee of the
Kentucky Whigs. He ran unsuccessfully for the U.S. vice-presidency on the
Democratic ticket of 1848. A former law partner and close confidant of Martin
Van Buren, Benjamin F. Butler served as U.S. attorney general, 1833-38, and
twice as U.S. attorney for the Southern District of New York, 1838—41 and
1845-48.

6. Word illegible.

7. A White County lawyer, Samuel Turney served as a Democrat in the Ten-
nessee House, 1829-35; in the Tennessee Senate as a Democrat, 1839-47, and
as a Native American, 1855-57; and in the Tennessee Confederate Senate,
1861-63.

TO GEORGE BANCROFT!

Sir— Washington 7th July 1845

This note will be handed to you by Mr Lonergan,? whom I knew
as a contractor to build a Rail Road in Tennessee some years ago.
He desires, to obtain a contract on the works shortly to be erected at
Memphis. He is a man of energy and good character, and will faith-
fully execute any contract he may make. All he desires is to have his
proposals, considered, and if they are lower than any others, to obtain
the contract. I give him this note of introduction that he may have a
conversation with you.

James K. PoLk

ALS. MHi. Addressed locally.
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1. Historian and diplomat, Bancroft attended universities in Germany from
1818 to 1822. An ardent Jacksonian, he took an energetic part in securing
Northern delegate support for Polk’s presidential nomination at the 1844 Bal-
timore convention. Polk appointed him secretary of the navy in 1845 and
eighteen months later named him minister to Great Britain. Acquainted with
many English and French scholars, Bancroft pursued additional research on
his ten-volume History of the United States (1834—74) before returning to the
United States in 1849.

2. Kenedy Lonergan, a Cincinnati Democrat and construction contractor,
reportedly suffered heavy financial loses in the Hiwassee Railroad project
in 1839.

FROM J. GEORGE HARRIS

My Dear Sir, Nashville July 7. 1845

I gave you the substance of Gen. J’s last letter in the pricise terms
which his adopted son used in relating them to me, as nearly as I
could.! He tells me to-day that he has given you its substance un-
der his own hand.? He is therefore responsible for any descrepency, if
any exist.

Since your letter to Mr. Jackson of 28th ult.? I am satisfied that the
letter was intercepted either between the Hermitage and the Nash.
P. O. or at some of the Post Offices. A re-examination of the case, with
cross questions to witnesses, leads to the belief that the letter, although
written on Friday was not mailed until Saturday morning (the 7th) and
did not depart until the mail of Sunday morning (the 8th), if indeed,
it was mailed or departed at all. If it had been miscarried to any ex-
treme of the Union, it would have reached you before this, if not before
the 28th.

Mr. Jackson now recollects distinctly that he gave the letter to his
market-servant Tom on Saturday morning with others for the P. O.
He says Mrs. J. also recollects it distinctly.* Tom says he deposited the
letters then given him in the P. O. letter-box for receiving letters from
the outside between nine & ten o’clock same morning. The clerks in the
P. O. are now not certain that amongst the letters from the Hermitage
which were mailed on Friday night there was on directed to the Pres-
ident. Nor does the chief clerk® remember whether there was a letter
for the President in the package made up for Washn by the mail of the
8th (Sunday).

Mr. Jackson at first told me that the General’s letter to the Pres-
ident was directed and franked by the Gen. himself. He says now,
on reflection, that he recollects of directing it himself, and on asking
the General for his frank the Genl replied, “there is no necessity of
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my frank on letters to the President.” The letter therefore could not
have attracted any attention at the Post Office as coming from General
Jackson for it bore no exterior marks of his hand.

Mr. J. says that Tom has never been detected in any misconduct with
letters entrusted to him, but still thinks it possible that he might have
lost it on the way without missing it from the little package which
contained it with others.

I have endeavored to ascertain whether Tom did not stop somewhere
on the way or at Nashville after his arrival here, but, as yet, have
been unsucessful.

Dr. Esselman tells me that when Maj. Lewis reached the Hermitage
on Sunday afternoon (having been sent for at the Genl’s request) he
remarked “I intended to have come up yesterday or this morning, but I
heard on yesterday morning that the General was better.”® Dr. E says
he is strongly impressed with a recollection of an expression like this
by Maj. Lewis, but cannot assert it positively.

The Maj. you know lives on the road-side (Fairfield) to the Her-
mitage. He had not been at the Hermitage for two or three days. It
is not impossible that Tom might have stopped on his way to market to
inform his “old master Lewis” how the General was, nor is it impossible
that he might have misslaid the letter while there. But as yet we have
no evidence that he stopped there, and you know how very delicate is
the nature of that urging which must be made, lest some members of
the Hermitage household would take umbrage at the mere suspicion.

After all the belief strengthens in my mind that the letter never left
Nashville. The witnesses seem to have changed their opinions, of ei-
ther their memory of incidents from day to day, until I think it may
be safely concluded from the sum of their evidence that the letter was
written as I have stated & sent from the Hermitage by Tom on Sat-
urday morning. Whether it reached Nashville, was deposited in the
office, or mailed for the evening of Sunday the 8th, is yet veiled in mys-
tery. I hope, however, to learn something more certain of its fate in a
few days.

J. GEORGE HARRIS

ALS. DLC-JKP. Addressed to Washington City. Polk’s AE on the cover
states that he received this letter on July 14, 1845.

1. See Andrew Jackson to Polk, June 6, 1845, and J. George Harris to Polk,
June 28, 1845.

2. See Andrew Jackson, Jr., to Polk, June 30, 1845.

3. Letter not found.

4. Sarah Yorke Jackson.

5. P. M. Sands.
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6. John N. Esselman and William B. Lewis. A well-known Nashville physi-
cian, Esselman was married to Anne Campbell, sister of George W. Campbell.
A neighbor and longtime friend of Andrew Jackson, Lewis resided in the White
House during Jackson’s presidency and served as second auditor of the Trea-
sury from 1829 until 1845.

FROM MATTHIAS MARTIN'!

Respected Sir: Columbus O. July 7 1845

It is with some degree of embarrassment that I venture to address
you on a subject which is of importance to you and to the democracy of
the Union. Although you will not recognise me as a prominent demo-
crat of our State; yet I am a democrat, and have been so all my life and
one that can say, never voted for a Federalist in my life. The subject of
appointments is one calculated to either strengthen or weaken a polit-
ical party to a great degree and I am happy to bear witness, that so far
as appointments have come from your hands they have been univer-
sally good, but there has been some appointments made by your secy’s
which have given universal dissatisfaction to the people of the west,
which you are unjustly held responsible for. One I would mention is
the appointment of J B Macey of Cincinnati as confidential agent for
the Treasury department.2 This Mr Macey you are undoubtedly un-
acquainted with; therefore a few facts you must know. He is formerly
a citizen of New York, known as one of the leaders of the Tallmadge
faction of Conservatives?; in 1840 he was one of the most active elec-
tioneers for Harrison there was in the State of New York in opposition
to Mr Van Buren; and if Mr Van Buren had been nominated again he
would have went for Clay; and the reason of his opposition to Mr Van
Buren was that Mr Van Buren knew his character so well that Macey
knew he could secure no favor at his hands, and having no principles
except office he went for Federalism. Some two years ago he emmi-
grated to Ohio, became the confidential agent of the “Ohio Life Insur-
ance and Trust Co.” The democracy saw fit to take from the concern
its banking powers a few years since, and since that time he has been
a regular lobby for that concern every winter, to get its banking pow-
ers restored—his whole vocation was to follow members to there rooms
and seats imploring them to become his tools, and grant this right to
that concern which had been taken from them by Legislature.* He has
now effected an arrangement so that his favored institution will have
all the deposits in this section of the state, and in his travels does noth-
ing else but electioneer for Mr Walker for the succession in 1840.%> The
democracy of Ohio have no confidence in him whatever and his removal
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would give universal satisfaction. What I write you is true to the letter
as I verily believe, and the democrats generally believe that he is agent
for this Bank yet.

I have written thus frankly to you with a sincere desire that your
administration may not be liable to be corrupted by such unprincipled
renegades as he is. I have no personal acquaintance with you, though
I saw you in cincinnati in February when I was sent on a committee
to solicit you to travel through our place. I have been a close observer
of public men, and have marked your course with admiration since
1833. I was one who voted in our district convention on the 8th of
Jan. 1844, for you for Vice President in place of Col Johnson. I was
and am a devoted friend to Mr Van Buren, and was mortified that
he was not nominated, but my mortification was turned to rejoicing
when the mantle fell from him upon you my first choice for the Vice
Presidency; your uniform opposition the corruptions of the United S.
Bank, and support of our lamented Jackson and democratic principles
gave me unalloyed satisfaction at the result. And hope and pray that
your administration may prove, as I have no doubt it will beneficial to
the whole people by the carrying out of democratic principles all their
purity. And to that end it is necessary to have honest democrats in the
subordinate places in the government.

I would say in conclusion that I am a democrat at heart have always
been have lived in Columbus 26 years and am a Mechanic take a lively
interest in the welfare of the Democratic party, and the success of your
administration. For my character I would refer you to Col W. Medill
Col W. Allen Hon B. Tappan Col S. Medary.® Please accept the good
wishes of your humble servt for your future prosperity and success.

MatTHIAS MARTIN

ALS. DLC—JKP. Addressed to Washington City.

1. A Columbus painter, Martin is not identified futher.

2. Not identified further.

3. A lawyer from Poughkeepsie, N.Y., Nathaniel P. Tallmadge served in the
U.S. Senate from March 1833 until June 1844, when he resigned to become
governor of the Wisconsin Territory. Polk removed Tallmadge from office on
May 13, 1845. Martin refers to the division within the New York Democracy
over the rechartering of state banks that issued paper or “soft” notes incon-
vertible into specie or “hard” currency.

4. Martin refers to the passage by “hard money” Democrats of the Latham
Act of 1842 and the Bartley Act of 1843, which resulted in the closing of many
Ohio banks. Ohio Whigs and “soft money” Democrats subsequently reversed
this policy with the Bank of Wooster Act of 1844 and the Kelley Act of 1845.

5. Martin probably intended to write “1848.” Pennsylvania born, Robert
J. Walker moved to Natchez, Miss., in 1826 and practiced law. He served in
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the U.S. Senate from 1835 until 1845, when he became Polk’s secretary of the
Treasury. Subsequently, he served as governor of the Kansas Territory and as
U.S. financial agent in Europe during the Civil War.

6. William Medill, William Allen, Benjamin Tappan, and Samuel Medary.
An Ohio lawyer, Medill served as a member and Speaker of the Ohio House,
1835-38, before winning election in 1839 as a Democrat to the first of two
terms in the U.S. House. A lawyer, farmer, and stockman from Chillicothe,
Ohio, Allen won election as a Democract to one term in U.S. House in 1833 and
sat in the U.S. Senate from 1837 until 1849. A lawyer in Steubenville, Ohio,
Tappan served as judge of the Fifth Ohio Circuit Court of Common Pleas in
1816 and as U.S. district judge of Ohio in 1833; he won election as a Democrat
to one term in the U.S. Senate, 1839-45. A native of Pennsylvania and printer
by trade, Medary edited the Columbus Ohio Statesman and in that position ex-
ercised great influence among the Ohio Democracy; he later served as governor
of Minnesota Territory, 1857-58, and then of Kansas, 1859-60.

FROM A. O. P. NICHOLSON

Dear Sir: Nashville July 7th 1845

According to promise I write to-day but am to regret that I have
nothing of interest to add to my last.! Mr. Jackson was in Nashville
to-day and I had a long conversation with him. He has examined
the servant closely and he sticks to it that he delivered the letter at
the Post Office between 9 and 10 O’clock on Saturday morning: but
there were more letters than one and it is therefore probable that he
lost it on his way to town. When he received the letter to bring to
town there was no one at the Hermitage and it was handed to him by
Andrew Jackson Jr. which is distinctly remembered by his wife. It is
truly possible that the letter may have been sent in a wrong packet to
some other point and that it may yet be recovered, but my impression
now is that it never reached the office at Nashville but was lost en route
from the Hermitage.

I rec’'d a letter to-day from Mr. Wallace of Maryville E. Ten. who in-
forms me that he is an applicant for a clerkship at Washington and
desiring me to write to you in his behalf, which request of his you will
please consider me as having complied with.2

I am afraid our friends at Washington are counting too confidently on
success in Tennessee—there is really such a dead calm in the political
elements here that I do not know how to make any calculations. I have
caught the prevailing feeling of the democrats and am looking for a
victory but it would be hard to give a good reason for my faith. If we
carry the Legislature it is very uncertain who will be our Senator. I
should not be surprised if the whigs make the election. If there is any
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danger of such a result I shall not allow my name to be used at all. My
private affairs are so much tangled that my political aspirations are
materially cooled.

Gen. Houston is still with us and finds but little contenance from the
whigs. He is a democrat and talks good annexation sentiments but is
suspected by many democrats. He leaves for E. Tenn. in a few days to
spend several weeks.

Brown writes very incouragingly from E. T. as to his prospects and
so do our friends in that quarter, but Foster’s friends seem more confi-
dent now than they did a few weeks ago. Hall has bragged them into
better spirits.?3

I do not think Maj. Lewis has excited the sympathy of any body
here except Hall and Barrow.* There are some democrats who think
it would have been as well for you to have answered his impertinent
notes; but no damage has been done.

It is understood here that several leading whigs have changed their
views on a Bank and Tariff, viz. George W. Martin, Harry Hill, Dr.
Gayle, Godfrey Fogg &c.? How they will vote I cannot say but it shows
that the current is inclined to set in right.

We calculate on gaining a Senator and floater in the Memphis dis-
trict, and we have hopes in McNairy, Madison, Haywood and Perry.
We will probably gain a member in Giles, one in Bedford, and one in
DeKalb, with hopes of a Senator in Sumner and Smith, and a floater
in White, Jackson, &c. But we are in danger of losing a Senator in the
White district and we may lose a member in Lawrence. Some of our
friends have hopes of electing Hickman in this county.®

E. Tenn. we will gain a Senator in Bledsoe, Marion &c, a member
in Roane, one in Munroe, with hopes in Blount and hopes of Sevier
(Maj. Thos. Brown’s son-in-law) in Roane, Morgan and Anderson.” He
is whig but the Maj says will do. From this count you will see that we
are counting on a close race.

A. O. P. NIcHOLSON

ALS. DLC-JKP. Addressed to Washington City and marked “Private.”
Polk’s AE on the cover states that he received this letter on July 15, 1845.

1. See Nicholson to Polk, July 6, 1845.

2. Reference probably is to Jesse G. Wallace, son of prominent Maryvillian,
William Wallace.

3. A native of North Carolina and resident of Nashville, Allen A. Hall served
as chargé d’affaires to Venezuela, 1841-45; as assistant secretary of the U.S.
Treasury, 1849-50; and as U.S. minister to Bolivia, 1863—-67. In addition to
his diplomatic duties, Hall edited and published several Nashville newspapers
including the Republican Banner, the Nashville Whig, and the Nashville News.
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4. William B. Lewis, Allen A. Hall, and Washington Barrow. A lawyer
from Tennessee and briefly a resident of Mississippi, Barrow served as U.S.
chargé d’affaires to Portugal, 1841-44; edited the Nashville Republican
Banner, 1845-47; and won election to one term in the U.S. House as a Whig,
1847-49.

5. George W. Martin, Harry R. W. Hill, and Godfrey M. Fogg. Hill, a wealthy
Nashville commission merchant, was a prominent Methodist layman. Fogg
practiced law in Nashville. Martin and Gayle are not identified further.

6. Edwin W. Hickman is not identified further.

7. Elbridge G. Sevier and Thomas Brown. A major in the Roane County
militia, Sevier ran unsuccessfully for a seat in the Tennessee Senate in 1843
and 1845; served as clerk of the Roane County circuit court, 1833—-36; and
married Mary Caroline Brown in 1827. A pioneer settler of Roane County,
Thomas Brown served two terms in the Tennessee House, 1817-19 and 1821—
23, and fourteen years as clerk and master of Roane County Chancery Court,
1834-48.

FROM CHARLES FLETCHER!

Mr President Geneva July 8. 1845

I beg leave to congratulate your excellency upon the news which has
just reached this place, that the Texan gov’t has acceeded to the propo-
sitions of congress & has united herself to this confederacy. I hope
this union may go on prospering & and to prosper, strengthening &
increasing in strength untill it is filled with the cities & towns from
the Atlantic to the Pacific & from the 30th to the 49th degree of north
latitude & that democratic liberty & free republican government may
exist throughout the length & breadth of this space united under one
Federal head. To accomplish this great object it will be necessary to
open a road across the country to the Pacific on or near the line of the
42d degree of latitude as laid down in my pamphlet transmitted to you
entitled a trip to Oregon.?2

The object of this communication is to call the attention of your ex-
cellency to the plan of building a railroad the whole distance. If we
wish to be able to bid defiance to the combined powers of Europe we
must invite their armies to “come over & help us” to dig our canals &
make our rail-roads. Thus a population will be among us to strengthen
us & make us powerful against any foreign aggression. Let us take for
our example the bright & shining lights that have gone before us.

That great mind who projected the New York & Erie canal DeWitt
Clinton®—his projectte was thought as wild then as the plan of mak-
ing a rail road to the Pacific is now. And here along the line of this
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canal throughout the whole extent we see the thriving villages & hear
the hum of busy industry. Valuable mill seats & valuable minerals
have been discovered & the more valuable treasure the fertile soil,
thus producing so much sustenance for man. All these great benefits
have been thrown open to a wide spreading population by means of the
Erie Canal.

If we turn back a few pages in history we shall find that large tracts
of land through which this canal passes were actually sold for six cents
an acre & now a thousand dollars an acre would not purchase many a
spot. Such & so flourishing will be the towns & villages along the line
of this rail road where now a barren wilderness prevails. Population
will follow the course of this rail road & as fast as it is made so fast will
be the Settlements.

For three hundred years the people of Europe have been seeking for
a western passage to China. The principal governments of that quarter
of the globe have at various times fitted out vessels at great expense to
explore a passage through or around the continent of America to the
land of the spices & silks but have never been able yet to find it. Now
this passage is presented to the American people and by opening it we
cut-off the China trade through the Mediteranean & the Red Sea &
make all Europe tributary to ourselves. The ports of the Pacific will
be equal to the ports of the Atlantic, & the City of West Boston or by
whatever other name it may be called, will yet rise in glory & grandeur
on the shores of the great Western Ocean.

That this work may be begun in your presidency will be glory enough
to hand down your name to the later posterity but whether it will be
expedient to grant the tract of land prayed for to one individual or
to vest it in commissioners will be for your wisdom & the wisdom of
Congress to determine. The land is of little value, now & the building
of the rail road will make it valuable and instead of towns fifty miles
apart as laid down in my plan we shall see towns five miles only from
each other.

It is the building of a city that enables the people to live in it. Could
the inhabitants have a city given to them already built they could not
live in it. So the building of this rail road will give life & activity
to thousands and will make the American name respected & feared
through out the world & her navies will feel at home on the broad wa-
ters of the Pacific.

CHARLES FLETCHER

ALS. DLC-JKP. Addressed to Washington City.
1. A native of Virginia and a clerk in the General Land Office, Fletcher wrote
from Geneva, N.Y., while on a family visit.
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2. See Fletcher to Polk, April 24, 1845.

3. A staunch proponent of the Erie Canal, Clinton served in many New York
state elected offices, including mayor of New York City and two terms as gov-
ernor, from 1817 until 1821 and from 1825 until his death in 1828.

FROM WILSON LUMPKIN'!

Dear Sir. Athens Ga. July 8th 1845

I have recently received communications from some of the leading
men of the Ridge or Treaty party of the Cherokee people, which makes
it my duty to communicate to you, in order that I may retain that
portion of your respect, to which I may be entitled. I learn from the
communications referred to, that the Cherokees anticipate a change
of their present Agent,? and they express a very strong desire that I
would consent to fill that Agency, & further inform me, that they have
been writing to Washington upon the subject. You may be assured Sir,
the thought of being an Indian Agent, had never entered my mind, pre-
vious to these communications. And I should regret very much being
considered in the light of an applicant, directly or indirectly for such
an office at Washington.

Nothing short of a sense of duty, could make me desire any office.

The perplexed condition, of the present affairs of these people, &
their knowledge of the deep concern which I have always felt, for their
true interest, has no doubt led to this movement on their part. Allow
me Sir, while on this subject to say, this portion of the Cherokee people,
have been greatly wronged injured & oppressed, by the want of good
faith on the part of the govt. of the U.S.

No man, now among the living, acted a more efficient part, than my
humble self, in effecting the removal of these people from the States,
to their present abode.

To effect this object, I cooperated faithfully with Genl. Jackson for
many years, & was then occupying positions, which enabled me to
act efficiently. The Treaty of 18353 in its formation, & consuma-
tion in the removal of the Indians, would not have been effected,
but for my Agency. And it will always be a sense of deep morti-
fication to me, that the guarantees of the U.S. Govt. contained in
that Treaty, have not been sustained with fidelity. After I left the
Executive office of Ga. Genl. Jackson served upon me the office of
Commr. under the Treaty, for settling up the claims of the Cherokees
&c & of endeavoring to influence them to remove peaceably under the
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provisions of the Treaty. I spent about 18 months in this service, & be-
lieving as I then & still believe, consumated the most important part of
my Commission.

I went into the Senate of the U.S. where it may be seen, that I did
something, in aid of consumating this great measure. When I left the
Senate in 1841, provision for the peaceable removal of the Indians,
was not only consumated, but the prospect was fair, that the Chero-
kees would settle down in peace & prosperity in their new lands. The
conflicting intercourse which I have had with these people, for a quar-
ter of a century, & the frequent opportunities which I had enjoyed to
prove to them, my sense of Justice, & true regard for their best inter-
est, has changed a majority of these people from enemies to friends,
and I was when they left (Ga. & the other states) able to counteract
the harmful influence of the selfish policy of John Ross* himself. In
recollection of the events to which I allude, these Cherokees are in-
duced to think I might still render them useful service—& hence their
appeal to me.

Since Genl. Jackson left the Executive office of the Union, the tone of
the Govt. has been too imbecile, to controul the conflicting elements of
the Cherokee people. The expiration of his last Presidential Term, hav-
ing expired before the Cherokee Treaty of 1835 was fully carried out,
has been the great misfortune of the Cherokee people. His imperative
tone, to execute Laws & Treaties, as they were found written, would
long since, have settled all the present existing difficulties.

I will not assert, that the Indian policy of Genl. Jackson, has inten-
tionally been abandoned by the suceeding administrations. But you
are apprized that much depends upon doing a right thing, in a right
way. To succeed in controuling our Indian population, we must be just,
& fear not. Never deceive them, never coax or flatter them. Command
their confidence & respect, by your justice & firmness.

The murder of the Ridges & Boudinot® is not only unavenged, but
their friends & followers are an oppressed & down trodden people. The
officers & Agents of the govt. of the U.S. have yielded quite too much to
the assumptions of Ross. And if his life is spared, & his assumptions
permitted to progress, we shall yet see trouble with our Indian popula-
tion, who have emigrated to the west. The individual accounts of Ross,
allowed at the War Dept. (I think in 1841) for any large amounts, will
not bear the scrutiny of able investigation.

From my intimate knowledge of the provisions of the Cherokee
Treaty of 1835, I am wholy unable to see, by what ingenuity, or artifice,
so many open questions are still to be found, under the provisions of
that Treaty. Commissions & Boards, always sitting, yet nothing finally
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settled. This state of things has, & will consume, the last remaining
substance, & best hopes of the Cherokee people. I write without re-
serve, (with an old worn out pen) & with that freedom of friendship
which I feel for you, & your administration. Let my suggestions pass,
for what they are worth. Think of them as you please, but believe me
sincere, when I assure you, that I do not so far over estimate my abil-
ity, as to consider any thing I write, in the light of advice, to the chief
magistrate of my country.

As far as I have the means of judging, you have taken a fair start,
& right direction, in administering the great & complicated affairs of
our beloved country. And as I consider our Indian affairs a subject of
importance and claim to have some knowledge of the matters to which
I have alluded, I trust you will not consider me as assuming too much
in this communication.

WiLsoN LuMPKIN

ALS. DLC-JKP. Addressed to Washington City. Polk’s AE reads: “Hon.
Wilson Lumpkin of Georgia. Has been applied to by a portion of the Chero-
kees to become their agent: Does not seek the appointment, but would accept
it, if tendered to him: Recd 12th July 1845.”

1. A lawyer from Athens, Lumpkin served two terms in the Georgia House,
1808-12; sat for three terms in the U.S. House, 1815-17 and 1827-31; won
election twice as governor of Georgia, 1831-35; and filled the unexpired U.S.
Senate term of John P. King serving from November 1837 to March 1841.

2. Pierce M. Butler.

3. Signed by the Treaty party on December 29, 1835, the Treaty of New
Echota quieted all Cherokee claims to lands east of the Mississippi River; au-
thorized U.S. citizenship for those choosing to leave the tribe; and provided
5 million dollars and 7 million acres of western land as compensation to the
tribe for its relocation. Upon receipt of the draft treaty in Washington, the
Jackson administration added five supplementary articles, one of which voided
the option of taking U.S. citizenship and remaining in the East with preemp-
tion rights to 160 acres.

4. A Tennessean of Scot ancestry and an eighth-blood Cherokee, Ross
headed the Cherokee National Council from 1819 until its dissolution in 1826;
assisted in writing the consitutions of 1827 and 1839; led the eastern branch of
the nation from 1829 until 1839; and following the removal westward served
as chief of the united Cherokee nation until his death in 1866.

5. On June 22, 1839, John Ridge, Major Ridge, and Elias Boudinot, all
three signatories to the Treaty of New Echota and leaders of the Treaty party,
were murdered in separate acts of violence; the Treaty party claimed that
the assassinations were part of a campaign of political intimidation by the
Ross party.
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FROM CHARLES MANLY'!

Sir Raleigh N.C. 8th July 1845

It becomes my duty as the Organ of the Board of Trustees of the
University of North Carolina to make known to you that at the late
Annual Commencement of that Institution the Senators Academicus
by unanimous assent, conferred upon you the Honorary Degree of Doc-
tor of Laws.

It is proper for me to add that no Diploma issues for this Degree,
except where it is specially desired by the Recipient.

CHARLES MANLY

LS. DLC—JKP. Addressed to Washington City. Polk’s AE states that he an-
swered this letter on July 22, 1845.

1. Manly, secretary-treasurer of the University of North Carolina Board of
Trustees 1821-1848 and 1850-1869, served one term as governor of North
Carolina, 1849-51.

FROM TECK-A-TO-KA!

Sir, Dumfries 8th July 1845

Republican government cannot exist excepting after the form and
manner of Copartneries. Compromise is the Keystone of all govern-
ments, but more especially between the Government, and the Gov-
erned. Compromise is the only cement to join, or lever to disjoint
republican governments. When a compromise can be made to keep up
the connexion, it is better, but when it is clear that a further commu-
nity of interests is destructive to the happiness and prosperity of all;
it is still better to dissolve the connexion. This truth history has made
self evident, and with these premises, I venture to ask your friendship,
and assistance, in the seperation of the Western Cherokees, and treaty
party, from the Ross Party. Let the line of seperation be immediately
surveyed, giving to Rogers2 and his Western tribe as much land as will
make their numbers to the square mile equal to the tribe of Ross his
Eastern Indians. Enough has been said and written on the subject of
this seperation to avoid detail; but one thing is stereotyped, it is be-
yond the power persuasion and negotiation, it is that which humanity
demand, and friendship dictates, it is that the Western Cherokees will
never consent to live under the government of Ross or his successors in
peace; and the union of the Copartnery, must be dissolved. I have been
nearly a quarter of a Century acquainted with the Western Cherokees.
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They exchanged their ancient possessions near Point remove low down
the Arkansas for the Country they now occupy. The eastern Cherokees
or Ross Party had no right or interest in the exchange. Yet with the con-
sent of the Western Cherokees under the hypocritical canting phrase
of a “Bond of Union” they removed not as guests, friends, and brothers,
but as conquerors and masters. The old Cherokees were deprived of
their authority, dispossessed of their improvements and property and
finally driven for refuge among their neighbors the whites. I mean
such as would not acknowledge Ross with his almost absolute power.
It is in your power Sir, with a single dash of your pen, to heal this
feud, to correct this dreadful calamity and give peace to these poor peo-
ple. Order an immediate seperation—Ilet it be done at the next session
of Congress. The good that would result to our Western border by the
measure, is clearly seen in the peace it would establish, and the secu-
rity it would give, to the frontier settlers who at the present time are
insecure. I am done.
TEck-a-To KaA—W. S. C.

ALS. DLC-JKP. Addressed to Washington City and marked “Dumfries Va
Free.” Polk’s AE reads “Teck-a-to Ka. In favour of a separation of the Chero-
kees, so as to provide a separate country for the Treaty party, and another
country to Ross & his party. Recd. 12th July 1845.”

1. Commonly known by his English name, William S. Coodey removed to the
West in 1834 and served in 1839 as president of the first National Committee
organized under the new Cherokee Constitution; unsuccessful in his 1847 bid
to unseat Ross as tribal chieftain, Coodey died two years later.

2. John Rogers, one of the principal chiefs of the Western Cherokees or Old
Settlers faction, had opposed the Che